JAN 20 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURTE

CASE NO. 81,836

HAROLD LEE HARVEY, JR.

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Indian River County, Florida

Honorable Dwight L. Geiger

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Ross B. Bricker
Florida Bar No. 801951
Steven F. Samilow
Florida Bar No. 769142
JENNER & BLOCK
One Biscayne Tower
Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone: (305) 530-3535

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a capital case. Appellant, Harold Lee Harvey, Jr. is sentenced to die under an unconstitutional conviction and judgment. He sought post-conviction relief before the trial court pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The trial court denied Mr. Harvey's request and he appeals from that order.

As demonstrated below, the order denying post-conviction relief is erroneous and contrary to law. It should be reversed, Mr. Harvey's conviction and sentence vacated, and the case remanded for a new and constitutional trial.

II.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

A. Arrest, Indictment and Pretrial Motions.

On February 27, 1985, the Okeechobee County Sheriff arrested Harold Lee Harvey, Jr. and charged him with second-degree murder and robbery in connection with the deaths of William Herman Boyd and Ruby Louise Boyd, husband and wife. (R. 03111.)½/ Another individual, Harry Scott Stiteler, also was arrested and similarly charged. (R. 03102.) On March 7, 1985, the grand jury indicted Mr. Harvey and Mr. Stiteler for the first degree murder of the Boyds. Both defendants pled not guilty to the charges. (R. 3104-5.)²/

The record in this case derives from three sources, the record from Mr. Harvey's direct appeal, cited as "R," the collateral record on appeal, cited as "CR," and the supplemental collateral record on appeal, cited as "SR." A page reference will follow each record citation.

The court later severed the two cases. (R. 03430.) On the eve of his trial, Mr. Stiteler pled guilty pursuant to a plea agreement and received a life sentence.

The Public Defender initially appeared on behalf of both defendants but soon perceived a conflict of interest and withdrew from representation of Mr. Harvey. On March 28, 1985, the trial court appointed Robert J. Watson of Stuart, Florida, a sole practitioner, as counsel for Mr. Harvey. (R. 03127.) Mr. Watson, who had never before tried a capital case alone, moved in advance of trial for appointment of co-counsel. (R. 03237-39, CR. 937.) The motion was denied. (R. 03261.)

The prominence of the Boyds in Okeechobee and its surrounding counties guaranteed extensive media coverage of Mr. Harvey's arrest and other pre-trial matters. The trial court, recognizing the impossibility of a fair trial in Okeechobee County as a result of this saturated coverage, granted Mr. Watson's motion for change of venue and moved the trial one county over, to adjacent Indian River County. (R. 03371-72, 03375-76.)

B. Trial and Sentencing.

Again recognizing the extensive media coverage afforded Mr. Harvey's case in South Florida, the trial court granted sequestered voir dire of all potential jurors who acknowledged having information about the case from the media. (R. 00290-91.) The conduct of voir dire and, in particular, Mr. Watson's incomprehensible failure to challenge "for cause" or peremptorily an admittedly biased and unrehabilitated juror form one of the principal bases of Mr. Harvey's motion and this appeal. (See pp.21-25, infra.) It is enough to note here that voir dire lasted five days and that the jury was sworn on the afternoon of June 13, 1986. The trial commenced the following morning. (R. 01848.)

On June 18, 1986, Mr. Harvey was convicted of two counts of first degree, premeditated murder. (R. 02570, 03455-56.) After a penalty proceeding, the jury voted eleven to one to recommend sentences of death on both counts. (R. 03046-47.) The trial court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Harvey to death on June 20, 1986. (R. 03051-52.)

C. Direct Appeal.

Mr. Harvey appealed his convictions and death sentences to this Court, which affirmed the trial court's judgment. Harvey v. State, 529 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1988). For reasons which are addressed in Mr. Harvey's separately filed Petition For Writ of Habeas Corpus, the errors complained of in this brief were not made known to this Court on direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on February 21, 1989. Harvey v. Florida, 489 U.S. 1040, 109 S. Ct. 1174, 103 L. Ed. 2d 237 (1989). Mr. Harvey's request for executive clemency was denied.

D. <u>Post-Conviction Proceedings.</u>

1. <u>Death Warrant</u>

On March 29, 1990, former Governor Martinez signed Mr. Harvey's death warrant, setting execution "for the week beginning noon, Tuesday, the 29th of May, 1990, and ending noon, Tuesday, the 5th of June, 1990." (CR. 168.) This triggered Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851's expedited proceedings provision, shortening the period in which Mr. Harvey might file motions for post-conviction or collateral relief from two years to thirty days, or until April 30, 1990.

2. Habeas Corpus Petition

On April 18, 1990, undersigned counsel filed a petition for habeas corpus in this Court and requested that Mr. Harvey's execution be stayed for a time sufficient and reasonable for counsel to prepare appropriate post-conviction papers on Mr. Harvey's behalf. On April 25, 1990, this Court stayed Mr. Harvey's execution and granted Mr. Harvey four months from the date of its order to file appropriate post-conviction papers.

3. The Rule 3.850 Motion

On August 27, 1990, Mr. Harvey timely filed his motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 in the trial court (the "Rule 3.850 motion"). (CR. 169-548.)

On October 5, 1992, the trial court entered a non-final order summarily denying all but one of Mr. Harvey's claims (the "Non-Final Order"). The court set the surviving claim, Claim I.B., for evidentiary hearing on March 11, 1993. (CR. 1649-50.)

4. Evidentiary Hearing

At the March 11th hearing, Mr. Harvey called two witnesses. James K. Green Esq., an attorney and former public defender in Palm Beach County, was tendered as an expert on the standard of care to be exercised by attorneys in selecting a capital jury and on the fundamental principles of capital jury selection. (CR. 26-28.) The State objected to Mr. Green's qualification as an expert on the fundamentals of capital jury selection. (CR. 28-30.) After the voir dire, the trial court sustained the government's objection and admitted Mr. Green's expert testimony only on the standard of care to be exercised by attorneys in selecting a capital jury. (CR. 30.)

The second witness was Dr. Gary Moran, a professor of psychology at Florida International University ("FIU") and head of the jury studies program at FIU. He was tendered as an expert on the effect of juror bias on the deliberative and decisional processes of the panel and the capacity of jurors to disregard personal biases. (CR. 67-71.) The State objected to Dr. Moran's testimony, expert or otherwise. (CR. 80-88.) After voir dire, the trial court sustained the objection. Undersigned counsel then proffered Dr. Moran's testimony. (CR. 89-94.)

The State called only Robert Watson, Mr. Harvey's trial counsel. Mr. Watson was tendered by the State as an expert on the standard of care to be exercised by attorneys in selecting a capital jury. His testimony was admitted. (CR. 117.)

5. Motion for Reconsideration of the Non-final Order

At the hearing, undersigned counsel moved <u>ore tenus</u> that the trial court reconsider the Non-Final Order, particularly that portion which denied Claim I.F., which alleged ineffectiveness based on Mr. Watson's unauthorized concession of guilt. (CR. 149-51.) In support of this motion, counsel proffered to the court evidence discovered the day of the hearing that additionally supported Mr. Harvey's claim. (CR. 150.) This motion was later renewed in writing and summarily denied. (CR. 1685-90, 1899-1900.)

6. Final Order Denying Relief

On March 17, 1993, Judge Geiger entered a final order (the "Order") denying Mr. Harvey's 3.850 motion in its entirety. The Order held that:

[T]he motion and the files and records in the case conclusively show that defendant is entitled to no relief on his Claims I.A., I.C., I.D., I.E., I.F., and all of Claims II, III, IV, V, VI, VIII, VIII, IX, X, XI, XIII,

XIV, XV, XVI, and XVII. A copy of that portion of the files and records in this case [sic] will conclusively show defendant is entitled to no relief in these claims is attached hereto.

(CR. 1691.) Contrary to the recitals of the Order, however, no files and records relating to Claims I.D., I.E., I.F., II.G., V, VI, VII, VIII, IX, X, XI, XII, XIII, XIV, XV, XVI and XVII were attached to the Order. Moreover, the record excerpts the trial court attached as support for his holding on Claims I.A., I.C. and IV bear no relation to those claims and do not, therefore, support the holding. (CR. 1695-1700, 1705-15, 1895-98.) Finally, the record excerpts the trial court attached as support for his holding on Claims II.A., II.B., II.C., II.D., II.E., II.F. and III do not, as the law requires, conclusively show that Mr. Harvey is not entitled to relief. (CR. 1716-46, 1747-57, 1758-60, 1761-73, 1774-89, 1790-95, 1796-1893.)

Respecting Claim I.B., the subject of the evidentiary hearing, Judge Geiger held that:

[T]he court determines that defendant is not entitled to relief, defendant having neither proven serious errors that denied [sic] of his right to counsel nor actual prejudice that deprived him of a fair trial.

(CR. 1691-92.) Again, the record excerpts referred to in the Order bear no relation to the trial court's factual determination.

On April 12, 1993, Mr. Harvey timely filed his notice of appeal. (CR. 1903-04.)

III.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Boyds' Murder And Mr. Harvey's Arrest.

On February 23, 1985, Ruby Louise and William Herman Boyd were shot to death in their Okeechobee, Florida home. The killing sent

shock waves through Okeechobee, a small rural community unaccustomed to violence. Concern was heightened because the Boyds were prominent citizens who owned and operated a large dairy farm. It was also common knowledge that the Boyds were close friends of the influential Graham family and, in particular, of Bob Graham, at that time the Governor of Florida. These facts were all reported in the press and the stage was set for a politically charged investigation and prosecution.³/

The ensuing statewide manhunt for the Boyds' murderers was unprecedented in Okeechobee County. The effort to apprehend the killer or killers and bring them to justice enlisted scores of officers from the Okeechobee County Sheriff's Office, the State Police and the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. The print and electronic media in Okeechobee and neighboring Indian River and Martin Counties followed and reported closely on the progress of the case. 4/

 $^{^{3/}}$ Robert Watson, Mr. Harvey's trial counsel, recalled the tense atmosphere in the courtroom on the opening day of the Harvey trial.

This was a high profile case in this judicial circuit. I believe the jury was aware that this was an important case to the prosecution. The case was tried by the newly-appointed State Attorney and his most skilled assistant, with a host of support staff members assisting. In addition, the proceedings were attended every day by a large number of friends and family of the victims. These spectators occupied about two rows of seats in the courtroom and were the most involved, attentive courtroom observers I've ever seen. These family and friends of the victims' were well-dressed and showed their wealth and station. I believe, in contrast, the Harvey family members were excluded under the rule of sequestration of witnesses.

⁽CR. 939.)

See, e.g., (1) Rob Kinneberg, Okeechobee Couple Found Murdered, PALM BEACH POST, Feb. 26, 1985, at B1; (2) Rob Kinneberg, Okeechobee Couple Found Murdered, PALM BEACH POST, Feb. 26, 1985; (3) Rob (continued...)

 $\underline{4}$ (...continued)

Kinneberg, Okeechobee Slayings' Motive Baffles Officers, PALM BEACH TIMES, Feb. 26, 1985; (4) Fran Hawkins, Boyds Found Dead, Murder is Suspected, OKEECHOBEE NEWS, Feb. 27, 1985, at 1; (5) Peter Vilbig, Dairyman, Wife Found Killed, MIAMI HERALD, Feb. 27, 1985, at 1A; (6) Peter Vilbig, Mary J. Tierney, Two Men Charged in Couple's Slaying, MIAMI HERALD, Feb. 28, 1985, at 22A; (7) Rob Kinneberg, Two Held in Robbery-Slaying Case, PALM BEACH POST, Feb. 28, 1985; (8) Rob Kinneberg, Boyd, Horatio Alger Type, PALM BEACH POST, Feb. 28, 1985; (9) Rob Kinneberg, Two Men Held in Murder Case, PALM BEACH TIMES, Feb. 28, 1985; (10) Rob Kinneberg, 2 Held in Fatal Robbery of Dairyman, Wife, PALM BEACH POST, Feb. 28, 1985, at 1B; (11) Trucker, laborer, charged in Okeechobee Slayings, SUN SENTINEL, Feb. 28, 1985; (12) Fran Hawkins, Arrests Made in Murder Case, OKEECHOBEE NEWS, Mar. 1, 1985, 1A; (13) Peter Vilbig, Suspect Called "Quiet, Easygoing," MIAMI HERALD, Mar. 1, 1985, at 1TC; (14) Peter Vilbig, Murders Thrust Okeechobee into Unwanted Spotlight, MIAMI HERALD, Mar. 3, 1985, at 24A; (15) Peter Vilbig, Murders End Innocence for Okeechobee, MIAMI HERALD, Mar. 3, 1985, at 1A; (16) Chris Kelly, Okeechobee Feels Pain of Growing, Aug. 12, (17) Fran Hawkins, Suspected Murder Weapon is Found, OKEECHOBEE NEWS, Mar. 6, 1985, at 1B; (18) Two Men Indicted in Okeechobee Deaths, MIAMI HERALD, Mar. 8, 1985, at 1C; (19) Two Indicted in Murder of Okeechobee Couple, PALM BEACH POST, Mar. 9, 1985; (20) Sue Smith, Grand Jury in Okeechobee Expected to Go for *`Max,'* NEWS TRIBUNE, Mar. 9, 1985; (21) Rob Kinneberg, Boyd's Will Lists Assets in Millions, PALM BEACH TIMES, Mar. 13, 1985; (22) Joe Crankshaw, Boyd Will Gives Most to Children, MIAMI HERALD, Mar. 14, 1985, at 2TC; (23) Most of Boyd's Estate Slated to be Split Among 3 Daughters, OKEECHOBEE NEWS, Mar. 15, 1985.

The foregoing articles were proffered to the trial court during the March 11, 1993 evidentiary hearing. (CR. 36-37.) On April 26, 1993, Mr. Harvey, pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.200(a)(1), timely filed his Directions to the Clerk of the trial court requesting that "all exhibits admitted into evidence and/or proffered by any party" at the evidentiary hearing be included in the record on appeal. (CR. 1913-14.) Mr. Harvey's Directions also requested that all documents and other submissions filed with the court be included in the record on appeal. (CR. 1915-17.)

To assist the Clerk, on April 28, 1993, Mr. Harvey separately filed the articles and the other exhibits admitted into evidence or proffered at the evidentiary hearing.

In preparing this brief, undersigned counsel discovered that the Clerk apparently failed to include any of the exhibits admitted into evidence or proffered at the evidentiary hearing, including the foregoing articles, in the record on appeal. Mr. Harvey will move to supplement the record.

The break in the case came when a confidential informant overheard Harry Scott Stiteler boast of committing a murder. (R. 00175-82.) The Sheriff arrested Stiteler and Stiteler immediately implicated Mr. Harvey. The Sheriff arrested Mr. Harvey at approximately 6:00 a.m. on February 27, 1985, as Mr. Harvey was on his way to work. (R. 00550.)

B. The Booking Process, Mr. Harvey's Request For Counsel, And Mr. Harvey's Confession.

Upon arrest, routine procedure requires that a suspect be searched by the arresting officer and then immediately transported to a holding facility to be formally received into the criminal justice system. The procedure accomplishing this receipt is known as "booking."

The booking process routinely involves a number of formal steps designed to document police custody of the person of the accused. The booking officer first notes the accused's name, the time of his arrival at the holding facility, the offense for which he was arrested and is being detained and his <u>Miranda</u> status. This last notation is particularly important because, as every police officer knows, the United States Supreme Court has articulated a "bright-line rule" regarding invocation of Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights after arrest.

Under Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S. Ct. 1880, 68 L. Ed. 2d 378 (1981), once a suspect in custody asks to speak with a lawyer, all questioning must stop. Because, under Michigan v. Jackson, 475 U.S. 625, 634-35, 106 S. Ct. 1404, 1410, 89 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1986), knowledge of a request for counsel is imputed from one state actor to another, a request to speak to a lawyer made to one police officer invokes the Edwards rule as to all. The booking process thus records an accused's request for counsel and that record can accompany the

accused's person, advising those seeking to question the accused that they are prohibited from doing so unless an attorney for the accused is present. See, e.g., Y. Kamisar, et al., Modern Criminal Procedure at 16-17 (5th ed. 1980).

Mr. Harvey was transported to the Okeechobee County Jail and booked at approximately 6:35 a.m. (R. 00542-44.) Following usual procedure, the booking officer, Lt. Manson, created a booking sheet. Lt. Manson noted that Mr. Harvey was asking to speak with a lawyer. 5/ (CR. 945-47.)

Mr. Harvey's 6:35 a.m. request for counsel on the booking sheet gave rise to an obligation on the part of the Okeechobee County Sheriff's Office to "respect and preserve the accused's choice to seek

IF ARRESTEE SAYS HE DOES NOT WANT A LAWYER, HE MUST SIGN THE FORM BELOW:

I do not want an attorney and I hereby waive my right to have an attorney. I do so voluntarily and of my own free will. No one has made any promises, threats, or inducements of any kind in order to make me sign this waiver

Signature of Arrestee

WITNESS TO WAIVER:

We, the undersigned, certify that the above waiver was signed voluntarily by the arrestee:

1.
Signature of first witness
2.
Signature of second witness

(CR. 945-47.)

The relevant portion of the booking sheet is set forth below: BOOKING OFFICER HAS ADVISED ARRESTEE OF THE FOLLOWING RIGHTS:

a. You have the right to have a lawyer.

b. If you cannot afford to pay a lawyer, one will be appointed for you immediately at no charge.

c. Do you want to have a lawyer now?

X YES ____ NO

this assistance." Maine v. Moulton, 474 U.S. 159, 171, 106 S. Ct. 477, 484, 88 L. Ed. 2d 481 (1985). Instead, the officers improperly and unlawfully commenced interrogation. The law could not be clearer. Under the "bright-line rule" of Miranda, Edwards and Michigan v. Jackson, everything Mr. Harvey said after 6:35 a.m., including his entire confession and the fruits thereof, was inadmissible and would be suppressed.

At 9:00 a.m., approximately two and one-half hours after booking, Det. Fisher of the Okeechobee County Sheriff's Office called Clyde Killer, an Okeechobee County Assistant Public Defender, and told him that two suspects had been arrested in connection with the Boyd murders and that they were being held at the Okeechobee County Jail. (R. 00517-18.)

Between 2:00 and 2:20 p.m. on that day, Mr. Killer, having received word from the court that he would be appointed to represent the suspects, went to the Okeechobee County Jail to speak with Mr. Harvey and Mr. Stiteler. When he arrived, Mr. Killer was given access to Mr. Stiteler, but jail personnel refused to allow Mr. Killer to speak with Mr. Harvey. (R. 00519-23.) This puzzled Mr. Killer because the jail's operating procedures routinely allowed public defenders the opportunity to speak with suspects in custody and never before had he been denied such access. (R. 00519-25.)

Working his way up the chain of command, Mr. Killer finally spoke with Assistant State Attorney Edward Miller. Mr. Miller reiterated that Mr. Killer could not speak with Mr. Harvey. He added that, contrary to the police's written acknowledgement of Mr. Harvey's earlier invocation of the right to counsel, Mr. Harvey didn't "need

or want to talk to an attorney." (R. 00525-26.) At this moment, as Mr. Miller knew, or should have known, Mr. Harvey had invoked his right to counsel, was undergoing unlawful interrogation and had not yet confessed. That unlawful interrogation would ultimately last until almost 6:00 p.m., eleven and one-half hours after Mr. Harvey had first requested a lawyer. Only then, after a confession was unlawfully obtained, did Assistant State Attorney Miller allow Mr. Harvey to see Mr. Killer. 6/ (R. 00526-28.)

At approximately 3:00 p.m., after more than seven hours of unlawful questioning, the police had still not obtained a confession. They decided to try a new tactic and contacted Mr. Harvey's wife, Karen, a school teacher. The police asked Mrs. Harvey to come to the Okeechobee County Jail. When she got there, Mrs. Harvey was asked to assist the police in eliciting a confession from her husband:

Karen Harvey did come to the Okeechobee County Sheriff's Office Detective Bureau and talked with writer in private prior to talking to her husband Lee Harvey. Mrs. Harvey advised writer that if talking with her husband (Lee) would help the case investigation, she would do so. Writer told Mrs. Harvey that Lee would tell (writer) what we wanted to know after he had talked with her. Mrs. Harvey then stated she would talk with Lee.

(CR. 1566.)

After the meeting with Mr. Harvey's interrogators, officers took Mrs. Harvey to the room where Mr. Harvey was being questioned. Although the police left the interrogation room, the tape recorder was set to record the conversation. (R. 03604.)

Mr. Harvey's first appearance was scheduled for 5:00 p.m. that afternoon. It was postponed until 6:00 p.m. to allow the police to complete their interrogation of Mr. Harvey. (R. 00527-28.)

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