FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 25 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HAROLD LEE HARVEY, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 81,836

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0857238

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL 33401-2299 (407) 688-7759

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Claim I - As required, those claims that were denied on the merits had corresponding, dispositive record excerpts, and those claims that were procedurally barred did not. Consequently, this case does not need to be remanded for an evidentiary hearing or for attachment of record excerpts. To the extent that the trial court's order is not sufficiently specific, however, a limited remand for clarification of the order would be warranted.

Issue II - Trial counsel's decision not to move to strike juror Brunetti for cause or peremptorily was a reasonable tactical decision. Thus, Harvey was not tried by a de facto eleven-person jury. Harvey's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for conceding his guilt in opening statements was also without merit, given that counsel made a sound strategic decision.

Issue III - Harvey's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue for the suppression of Harvey's confession based on a booking sheet which indicates that Harvey requested counsel was procedurally barred, as Harvey litigated the denial of his motion to suppress on appeal. Regardless, this claim is without merit; the booking sheet does not support Harvey's claim that trial counsel failed to Harvey's claim. adequately investigate and present statutory and nonstatutory mitigating evidence is also without merit. The evidence Harvey claims should have been presented was either cumulative to what had been presented or was in complete contradiction to what the same witnesses had testified to at the trial. Similarly, Harvey

- 13 -

has failed to show that he was given an incompetent mental health examination. The fact that Harvey has procured a psychiatrist who has a different opinion than Harvey's mental-health expert at trial does not establish his claim. Harvey's trial expert supported trial counsel's penalty-phase strategy.

Issue IV - The remainder of Harvey's claims were either procedurally barred, waived by failure to present argument on them in this appeal, or properly denied on the merits.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ATTACHED APPROPRIATE RECORD EXCERPTS TO ITS ORDER SUMMARILY DENYING RELIEF (Restated).

In his motion for postconviction relief, Harvey raised seventeen issues. An evidentiary hearing was held on claim I.B. After considering the motion, the State's response, the files and records, and evidence and argument of counsel, the trial court found that "the motion and the files and records in this case conclusively show that defendant is entitled to no relief on his Claims IA., IC., ID., IE., IF., and all of Claims II, III, IV, V, VI, VII, VIII, IX, X, XI, XII, XIII, XIV, XV, XVI, and XVII. A copy of that portion of the files and records in this case which conclusively show defendant is entitled to no relief on these claims is attached hereto." (CR 1691). In this appeal, Harvey claims that "the trial court failed to attach any record excerpts for Claims I.D., I.E., I.F., II.G., V, VI, VII, VIII, IX, X, XI, XII, XIII, XIV, XV, XVI and XVII. The record excerpts attached in support of the denial of Claims I.A., I.C., and IV do not relate to those claims, although it is possible they may relate to other claims." Brief of Appellant at 38 (footnote omitted). Harvey apparently has a fundamental misunderstanding of the trial court's order and the law.

Although the trial court did not specifically delineate which claims were denied on their merits and which claims were found to be procedurally barred, it is reasonable to conclude that the record excerpts relate only to claims the trial court considered on the merits.¹ Considering the fact that the record excerpts were taken directly from the State's proposed order, which related the excerpts to corresponding claims,² it is therefore reasonable to conclude that the trial court denied claims I.B., I.C., I.D., I.F., II.A. through II.E., III, and XVI on the merits.³ Conversely, it is reasonable to conclude that the trial court found claims I.A., I.E., II.F., II.G., IV through XV, and XVII procedurally barred, as they either were, or should have been, raised on direct appeal, or without merit upon the face of the motion. Thus, as required, those claims that were denied on the merits had corresponding, dispositive record excerpts, and those claims that were procedurally barred did not. Consequently, this case does not need to be remanded for an evidentiary hearing or for attachment of record excerpts.⁴ то the extent that the trial court's order is not sufficiently

¹ It is axiomatic that record excerpts are not required for claims that are found to be procedurally barred.

² Exhibit IA related to claim I.B., exhibit IB related to claim I.C., exhibit IC related to claims I.D. and I.F., exhibit IIA related to claim II.A., exhibit IIB related to claim II.B., exhibit IIC related to claim II.C., exhibit IID related to claim II.B., exhibit IIC related to claim II.C., exhibit IID related to claim II.D., exhibits IIE and IIF related to claim II.E, exhibit III related to claim III, and exhibit IV related to claim XVI. (SCR 4-223).

 $^{^3}$ The material contained in the record excerpts attached to the order denying relief also corresponds directly with those pages of the record cited to by the State in its response to Harvey's 3.850 motion.

⁴ Harvey challenges the denial of each of these claims independently in other issues within his brief. The State will address the propriety of the denial of these claims in those issues.

specific, however, then a limited remand for clarification of the order would be warranted.

for Harvey's assertion that the State submitted a As proposed order ex parte to the trial court, brief of appellant at 38, the record reveals that the State notified Harvey of its submission (SCR 3), and Harvey responded by letter to the trial court, indicating that he would file "more formal objections both to the order, the process by which it was given to the Court, and the method of 'service' upon counsel" once he received a copy of the proposed order. (CR 1648a-b). No objections were ever made, and Harvey now makes no claim that he was not provided a copy of the proposed order or had no time to respond to the proposed The trial court did not even enter the interim order order. denying relief until sixteen months after the State submitted the proposed order. The final order was not signed for another five months. Thus, the State's sua sponte submission of a proposed order, the substance of which the trial court did not even use, did not constitute ex parte communications with the trial court. See Groover v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S249, 250 (Fla. May 5, 1994).

- 17 -

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF CLAIMS I.B., I.F., AND IV (Restated).

In his motion for postconviction relief, Harvey claimed that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to strike juror Brunetti (claim I.B.). Harvey also alleged that, because counsel failed to do so, he was, in effect, tried by only eleven jurors In addition, Harvey alleged that trial counsel was (claim IV). ineffective for admitting Harvey's guilt during opening statements (claim I.F.). (CR 620-28, 638-46, 812-16). Harvey was granted an evidentiary hearing on claim I.B., but the claim was ultimately determined to be without merit. (CR 1691-92). As discussed in Issue I, supra, claim I.F. was summarily denied on the merits, and claim IV was found to be procedurally barred. (CR 1691).

In this appeal, Harvey claims that the trial court erred in denying relief on these claims. Brief of Appellant at 40-50. Regarding trial counsel's decision not to move to strike juror Brunetti for cause or peremptorily, the record reveals that this was a reasonable tactical decision. After the parties had selected the twelve-member jury, the trial court heard and denied trial counsel's motion to suppress Harvey's confession. At that point, trial counsel believed that a guilty verdict was a foregone conclusion; thus, he decided to focus on the penalty phase, both in terms of picking a jury receptive to his case and in terms of maintaining credibility with the jury throughout both phases. (CT 102-05). Although counsel had no independent recollection by the time of the evidentiary hearing of his strategy at trial, he agreed from his review of the transcripts that an important consideration was the jurors' attitudes regarding penalty-phase mental health experts and the death penalty. (CT 109-18).

After the motion to suppress was denied, the parties resumed voir dire for the selection of two alternate jurors. Juror Brunetti was being questioned in that respect. Although juror Brunetti indicated an awareness of some facts of the case, including the fact that Harvey had confessed, trial counsel knew that Harvey's confession was going to be admitted anyway and that a guilty verdict was almost assured. Of greater importance was juror Brunetti's indication that she would be receptive to mental-health testimony, and that, although she thought the death penalty deterred the offender, she did not "necessarily believe that two wrongs make a right." (CT 110-12). From these statements, it was reasonable for trial counsel to decide that juror Brunetti would be an acceptable penalty-phase juror who would be receptive to mental-health mitigation and pleas for a life sentence. Consequently, when one of the jurors fell ill during opening statements and the trial court indicated that it would replace her with juror Brunetti, trial counsel's decision not to challenge her at that time was reasonable based on his strategy.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Harvey must show that trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness <u>and</u> that but for counsel's deficient performance there is a reasonable probability that the

- 19 -

result would have been different. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984). Every attempt must be made to reconstruct the circumstances of the challenged conduct and evaluate that from counsel's perspective at the time, thereby conduct eliminating the distorting effect of hindsight. Id. at 689. Here, counsel made a tactical decision not to strike juror Brunetti from the panel. Such a tactical decision was reasonable under the circumstances. Thus, counsel's performance was not See Bush v. Wainwright, 505 So.2d 409, 411 (Fla. deficient. 1987) ("The claimed errors of counsel involve . . . actions pursued following sound strategies of the defense. The fact that strategies resulted in conviction augurs these a no ineffectiveness of counsel."); Wilson v. Wainwright, 474 So.2d 1162, 1163 (Fla. 1985) ("Strategic decisions of counsel will not be second-guessed on collateral attack.").

As for Harvey's corresponding claim that because counsel did not strike juror Brunetti from the jury he was, in effect, tried by an eleven-member jury (claim IV), the trial court properly found that Harvey was entitled to no relief. Again, trial counsel made a tactical decision to keep Brunetti on the jury. Because of this decision, Harvey was tried by twelve people as required by law. No challenge was made to the panel as a whole, because counsel was satisfied with his decision. Regardless, counsel has the authority to waive a twelve-person jury in a capital case. <u>State v. Joseph</u>, 561 So.2d 534 (Fla. 1990). Thus, the record supports the trial court's denial of this claim.

Similarly, the record supports the trial court's denial of claim I.F., wherein Harvey claimed that trial counsel was

- 20 -

ineffective for conceding Harvey's guilt in his opening statement. Although the trial court did not grant an evidentiary hearing on this claim, Harvey's counsel elicited testimony on this issue at the hearing and then moved ore tenus for reconsideration of the trial court's interim ruling denying relief on this claim, which the trial court took under advisement. (CT 138-41, 149-57). Moreover, exhibit IC to the trial court's order further supports the trial court's ruling.

At the evidentiary hearing, Harvey's trial counsel, Robert Watson, testified that, although he doubted that he and Harvey discussed the specific statements that he was going to make in his opening statement, he recalled discussing with Harvey whether he was going to argue for a not-guilty verdict or a lesser included offense. (CT 138-39). From reading the transcripts of his opening statement, it was obvious to him that he was arguing second-degree murder, "which [he] felt was the only for possibility." (CT 140). Mr. Watson was sure that he was trying to "create in the minds of the jury sufficient mitigating circumstances to spare his life against the aggravating circumstances that [he] knew full well the state was going to present." (CT 141).

Mr. Watson also testified that his strategic priority was to maintain credibility with the jury. By that point in time, counsel knew that Harvey's confession was going to be admitted. Because of the comprehensive nature of the confession, he had to acknowledge its existence. (CT 105-07). He knew that he could not argue in good faith that Harvey was not at the murder scene. Rather, trial counsel used Harvey's confession as evidence of his

- 21 -

cooperation with police and genuine remorse for the crimes. (CR 1705-15). Under the circumstances, it was not unreasonable to concede identity, argue that the facts proved only second-degree murder, and then plead for mercy in the event of a verdict of guilty to first-degree murder. <u>See Bush</u>; <u>Wilson</u>; <u>Jennings v.</u> <u>State</u>, 583 So.2d 316, 319-20 (Fla. 1991); <u>Squires v. State</u>, 558 So.2d 401, 403 (Fla. 1990).

support his claim to the contrary, Harvey cites То principally to Francis v. Spraggins, 720 F.2d 1190 (11th Cir. Francis, however, is factually distinguishable, and thus 1983). provides no support for Harvey's position. In Francis, although the defendant continually denied his involvement, his attorney presented an insanity defense that was not supported by the facts. Here, Harvey made no claim of innocence which was contradicted by a groundless defense. In fact, Harvey has even claimed in his 3.850 motion that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present mental-health testimony that supported his defense of second-degree murder. (CR 796-811). Trial counsel's reasonable, strategic decision did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. As a result, the trial court properly denied this claim for relief.

- 22 -

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE SUMMARY DENIAL OF CLAIMS I.A., II.A., AND III (Restated).

In his motion for postconviction relief, Harvey claimed that trial counsel was ineffective for (1) failing to argue for the suppression of Harvey's confession to the police based on a booking sheet which indicated that Harvey requested an attorney (claim I.A.), (2) failing to adequately investigate and present statutory and nonstatutory mitigating evidence (claim II.A.), and (3) failing to ensure that Harvey was given a competent mentalhealth examination (claim III). (CR 583-620, 650-774, 796-811). In its written order, the trial court summarily denied all of these claims. (CR 1691-92). Contrary to Harvey's assertion on appeal, brief of Appellant at 51-68, the record conclusively shows that Harvey was not entitled to relief on these claims; thus, they were properly denied.

Regarding claim I.A., relating to counsel's failure to argue for the suppression of Harvey's confession based on the booking sheet, this claim was procedurally barred, since the admission of Harvey's confession had been vigorously challenged at trial and on direct appeal. Harvey's postconviction claim that counsel should have made different arguments in his motion is merely an attempt to relitigate the substantive claim under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. Such an attempt, however, should not prevail. <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1990) ("Proceedings under rule 3.850 are not to be used as a second appeal. Moreover, it is inappropriate to use a different

- 23 -

argument to relitigate the same issue. . . [Further,] [a]llegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal."); Porter v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1990).

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